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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Airport Authority for Airport District #1 
of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of 
the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of 
Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, as of and for the year ended December 
31, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Airport 
Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component 
unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof  for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu 
Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Airport Authority for Airport 
District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit 
of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, 
component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 6 through 11, the pension liability information on pages 46 through 47, 
and the OPEB liability information on page 48 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
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of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information 
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu 
Parish Police Jury’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of compensation, benefits and 
other payments to agency head or chief executive officer is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  The schedule of expenditures of federal awards, 
as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
our opinion, the schedule of compensation, benefits and other payments to agency head or chief executive 
officer and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 15, 2024, 
on our consideration of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit 
of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport 
Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Airport Authority for Airport 
District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Steven M DeRouen & Associates LLC 
 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
May 15, 2024 
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AIRPORT AUTHORITY FOR AIRPORT DISTRICT #1 OF 
CALCASIEU PARISH - LAKE CHARLES, LOUISIANA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
Using This Annual Report 
The basic financial statements focus on the Airport as a whole. These basic statements are designed to 
emulate corporate presentation models whereby all Airport activities are consolidated into one business-
type fund.  The focus of the Statements of Net Position is designed to be similar to bottom line results for 
the Airport.  This statement combines current financial resources with capital assets. The Statements of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position focus on results of operations and non-operating 
revenues that support operations of the Airport.  
 
Overview of the year 2023 
I’m pleased to report that in 2023, the Airport experienced a banner year.  Nearly 170,000 passengers 
utilized LCH in 2023, including 85,417 people departing, which hasn’t happened since 1998.  Annual 
enplanements have only exceeded 80,000 four times since 1994, including this year, and this past October 
was the best in 29 years.  We closed out 2023 with a 35% passenger enplanement increase over 2022 and 
a 42% increase over 2019 BP (before the pandemic).  Passenger load factors regularly exceeded 80% and 
averaged 76% for the year. 

Operationally, the Airport continues to excel.  We successfully renewed our 10-year district ad valorem 
in 2023 with 65% approval.  The district tax accounts for 15% of our operating budget, while 75% of the 
Airport’s revenue is generated by our operations.  We will also continue to pursue commercial 
development at every turn.  We currently have over 30 tenants operating on the Airport property. With 
investments in equipment and facilities, the Airport is well positioned to maintain the high standards 
required by our Part 139 certification and run this commercial airport safely and efficiently.  I’m proud of 
the technology, facilities, and equipment at LCH. We give our employees the tools they need to succeed 
while keeping the public and themselves safe.  This is evidenced by clean FAA certification inspections, 
zero workers comp claims, an unqualified audit, and other accomplishments by our highly efficient and 
effective team. 

Capital Improvements 

Since 2008, we’ve now accomplished nearly $100,000,000 in capital improvements.  These improvements 
increase safety, maintain critical infrastructure, and enable the Airport to fulfill its mission.  In a continuing 
theme, capital improvement dollars equal jobs and economic output for our Region.  That number will 
continue to grow as we work through our capital improvement plan, and below is a comprehensive list of 
capital projects based on their status of being recently completed, ongoing, or upcoming (funded): 

Recently completed: 
 Terminal Arrivals/Departures Loading/Unloading Canopies 
 Level II Electric Vehicle Charger Installation – Passenger Parking 
 Gates 2 and 3 Passenger Boarding Bridges with pre-conditioned air for all gates 
 Rental Car Ready/Return Parking Lot Improvements  
 Hangar 3/AirMed Operations Base 
 FBO/Freeman Jet Center 
 Airport Maintenance Building(s)  
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 Employee/DPS Parking Lot 
 Airport Traffic Control Tower Phase I – Feasibility Study  

Ongoing:  
 Entrance Road Improvements Phase I – Utilities  
 Hangar 2 
 Airport Masterplan Update 
 Parking Lot Improvements – Phase II  
 North Apron Design 

Upcoming (2024): 
 Terminal Loop and Access Road Improvements (multiple Phases through 2026)  
 South Apron Expansion 
 Hangar 5  
 Airport Equipment Storage Building  
 Airport Traffic Control Tower Phase II – Siting Study 
 Level II Rental Car Vehicle Charging Stations 
 Electric Aircraft Charging Station 

 
These projects are funded by several Federal, State, and Local programs. In normal years, the Airport 
receives approximately $1,000,000 annually from the Federal Airport Improvement Program (AIP) 
through a 90% entitlement grant, with the State of Louisiana picking up the remaining 10% through the 
State’s Aviation Trust Fund (ATF).  In addition to these entitlement funds, the Airport is eligible to apply 
for discretionary AIP grants, which are merit-based.  At the State level, the Airport can compete for a 
maximum of $3,000,000 annually with 100% grants above and beyond the match grants, all funded by 
the State Transportation Trust Fund.  These primary funding sources represent a user-funded system, with 
those funds being derived from ticket taxes, fuel taxes, and other aviation fees.  Other State funding 
programs include State capital outlay and merit-based grants funded by the State’s general fund.  Finally, 
at the local level, we can use Passenger Facility Charges (airline passengers), Customer Facility Charges 
(rental car customers), and local Airport funds to fund capital improvements. 

In addition to these “normal” funding sources, the Airport seeks out other grant funds.  These include 
various programs administered by different Federal and State agencies.  An example would be the 
Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities grant we are applying for in 2024.  Our intention with 
this grant application is to design an airport electrical microgrid that includes solar technology.  If funded, 
this project will allow the Airport to establish an independent electrical grid that can generate electrical 
power on Airport property that we can use to energize connected facilities.  We could also feed power 
back to Entergy’s grid when we have excess capacity and receive credit on our electrical bills.  More 
importantly, we can isolate the Airport from the main power grid during emergencies, thereby keeping 
the airport fully functional until the main utility grid can be repaired.  This initiative will also include clean 
energy generation, which many companies, utilities, and the Federal government are very interested in.  
This will make the airport an attractive option for investment opportunities by offering current and 
prospective tenants clean, resilient, and reliable energy. 
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Financial Highlights 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Airport’s net position has increased to $81.4 million from $73.6 million at 
December 31, 2022.  This increase is due mostly to capital asset additions funded by grant revenues. This 
year’s significant capital additions were: 
 

 Runway overlay project      $    2,226,188 
 Storage Facility       $    1,966,584 
 Parking lot improvements      $    1,024,018 
 Machinery and equipment      $       580,290 

 
Restricted net position amounts represent those assets that are available for specific purposes as a result 
of an agreement.  Conversely, unrestricted net position amounts are those that do not have any limitations 
for which these amounts may be used. 
 

 2023 2022 2021 
Current assets $9,883,220 $13,848,669 $9,655,103 
Net pension asset - 613,675 225,587 
Lease receivable 5,539,152           5,669,809           5,089,002 
Restricted cash 1,563,550 1,346,686 1,300,648 
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 72,778,313 62,829,424 55,734,515 

Total assets 89,764,235 84,308,263 72,004,855 
Deferred outflows      680,687      186,318      243,959 
       Total assets and deferred outflows 90,444,922 84,494,581 72,248,814 
Other liabilities          1,974,041          3,546,426              685,376 
Long-term liabilities    944,360    407,651    649,158 

Total liabilities 2,918,401 3,954,077 1,334,534 
Deferred inflows    6,079,050    6,916,827     6,014,753 
Net Position:    

Net investment in capital assets 71,257,925 59,555,205 55,415,042 
Restricted- PFC projects 962,456 696,550 446,642 
Restricted- CFC projects 625,440 710,367 858,453 
Unrestricted    8,601,650    12,664,555    8,179,390 

Total net position $81,447,471 $73,626,677 $64,899,527 
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During 2023, Operating revenues decreased approximately $68,000 from last year. Total expenses (before 
depreciation) increased by approximately $810,000 with the majority of the increase being related to 
salaries and benefits and insurance premiums. 
 

 2023 2022 2021 2020 

Operating revenues     $ 1,401,696     $ 1,469,539     $ 1,261,902     $ 1,094,000 

Operating expenses        7,620,708        6,599,696        6,120,737        7,189,460 
   Operating revenue (loss)      (6,219,012)      (5,130,157)      (4,858,835)      (6,095,460) 

Non-operating     

   Revenues (expenses)       5,567,820       6,168,617       5,929,271       6,397,426 

Other revenues       8,471,986       7,688,689       3,028,753       1,227,342 

Increase in net position     $7,820,794     $8,727,149     $4,099,189     $1,529,308 
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2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash 4,712,108$ 7,552,414$
Accounts receivable

Insurance proceeds 198,067 116,771
Trade 147,104 122,983
Advalorem Taxes 992,961 891,143
State revenue sharing 13,075 13,151
Federal grants 3,012,973 4,309,101
State grants 108,430 140,624
Customer facility charges 26,130 23,775
Passenger facility charges 58,216 36,455

Total accounts receivable 4,556,956 5,654,003
Lease Receivable 548,137 586,578
Prepaid expense 14,002 27,748
Prepaid insurance 52,017 27,926

Total Current Assets 9,883,220 13,848,669

Noncurrent Assets
Net pension asset - 613,675
Lease receivable 5,539,152 5,669,809
Restricted Cash 1,563,550 1,346,686
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 72,778,313 62,829,424

Total Noncurrent Assets 79,881,015 70,459,594

TOTAL ASSETS 89,764,235 84,308,263

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 680,687 186,318

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 680,687 186,318

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 90,444,922$ 84,494,581$

Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of
Calcasieu Parish - Lake Charles, Louisiana

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
December 31, 2023 and 2022

See notes to the financial statements

12



2023 2022

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 288,878$ 209,202$
Construction contract payable 1,520,388 3,274,219
Payable from restricted assets:

Passenger facility charges 60,000 -
Payroll taxes and benefits 66,636 31,089
Deduction from advalorem taxes for retirement system 38,139 31,916

Total Current Liabilities 1,974,041 3,546,426
Noncurrent Liabilities

Net pension liability 486,018 -
OPEB liability 458,342 407,651

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 944,360 407,651

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,918,401 3,954,077

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Deferred inflows of resources related to leases 5,806,071 6,057,851
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 53,547 576,436
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 219,432 279,540

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS 6,079,050 6,913,827

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 71,257,925 59,555,205
Restricted for PFC projects 962,456 696,550
Restricted for CFC projects 625,440 710,367
Unrestricted 8,601,650 12,664,555

TOTAL NET POSITION 81,447,471 73,626,677

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET
POSITION 90,444,922$ 84,494,581$

Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of
Calcasieu Parish - Lake Charles, Louisiana

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
December 31, 2023 and 2022

See notes to the financial statements
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2023 2022

Operating revenues
Rental income 1,276,203$ 1,263,535$
Landing fees 96,134 78,409
Miscellaneous 29,359 127,595

Total operating revenues 1,401,696 1,469,539
Operating expenses

Salaries and benefits 1,784,732 1,445,883
Contractual services 791,527 685,280
Repairs and maintenance 721,594 590,228
Office expense 69,747 53,847
Utilities and telephone 241,001 251,995
Security 192,683 192,683
Insurance 576,702 355,604
Depreciation 3,177,226 2,965,828
Other 65,496 58,348

Total operating expenses 7,620,708 6,599,696
Operating income (loss) (6,219,012) (5,130,157)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Interest 316,998 226,434

Ad Valorem tax 1,043,061 937,611

State revenue sharing 13,248 13,142
Grants

Maintenance reimbursement - 100,000

Security reimbursement 49,855 41,675

Operating expense reimbursement 3,050,063 3,816,101

Rental tax 35,171 33,673

Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 33,964 68,111

Federal Emergency Management Agency 869,380 556,444

Passenger facility charges 340,671 250,338

Customer facility charges 321,810 299,815
Engineering and professional fees (468,262) (142,811)

Ad Valorem tax deduction (38,139) (31,916)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 5,567,820 6,168,617

Other revenues
Capital grants 8,471,986 7,688,689

Increase (decrease) in net position 7,820,794 8,727,149
Net position, beginning of year 73,626,677 64,899,528

Net position, end of year 81,447,471$ 73,626,677$

Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of
Calcasieu Parish - Lake Charles, Louisiana

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

See notes to the financial statements
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Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of
Calcasieu Parish - Lake Charles, Louisiana

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 2023 and 2022

2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from charges 1,546,673$           1,426,641$           
Cash received from Ad Valorem taxes 941,242                1,001,818             
Cash received from grants 1,825,508             4,137,904             
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (2,529,419)            (2,218,250)            
Cash payments to employees for services (1,676,168)            (1,526,206)            

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 107,836                2,821,907             

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (14,953,244)    (7,126,792)      
Funds paid for engineering and professional fees (468,262)         (142,811)         
Cash received from sale of fixed assets 33,964            68,111            
Insurance proceeds (reimbursements) (81,296)           1,665,665       
Cash received from Federal Emergency Management Agency  686,037          556,444          
Cash received from capital grants 11,258,061           4,939,333             
Cash received from customer facility charges 319,455          313,625          
Cash received from passenger facility charges 318,910          251,995          
Rental tax received 35,049            33,673            
State revenue sharing received 13,325            13,051            

Net cash provided (used) by capital and
related financing activities (2,838,001)            572,294                

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest on investments 106,723          34,688            

Net cash provided by investing activities 106,723                34,688                  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,623,442)            3,428,889             

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,899,100             5,470,211             

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year - (including restricted
cash of $1,563,550 and $1,346,686 in 2023 and 2022) 6,275,658$           8,899,100$           

See notes to the financial statements
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Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

2023 2022

Operating income (loss) (6,219,012)$                 (5,130,157)$             

Depreciation 3,177,226                    2,965,828                
Nonoperating Ad Valorem taxes 941,242                       1,001,818                
Cash received from grants 1,825,508                    4,137,904                
Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in trade accounts receivable (24,121)                        55,065                     
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense 13,746                         (7,325)                      
(Increase) decrease in prepaid insurance (24,091)                        (320)                         
(Increase) decrease in lease receivable 169,097                       13,847                     
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 139,676                       (22,620)                    
Increase (decrease) in taxes and benefits payable 35,547                         (1,429)                      
Increase (decrease) in accrued OPEB liability (9,417)                          32,792                     
Increase (decrease) in accrued net pension liability 82,435                         (223,496)                  

Total adjustments 6,326,848                    7,952,064                

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 107,836$                     2,821,907$              

Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of
Calcasieu Parish - Lake Charles, Louisiana

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 2023 and 2022

See notes to the financial statements
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 Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

                                                        December 31, 2023 and 2022  

 17 

 
NOTE A. ORGANIZATION 
 

Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish (the Authority) was created by the 
Calcasieu Parish Police Jury as provided by Revised Statutes 2:602. The Authority is governed by 
a board of five commissioners who, along with the Airport Manager, establish regulations governing 
the maintenance and operations of the facilities of the Lake Charles Regional Airport. 
 

The financial statements of the Authority will be included in the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s 
financial reporting as a discretely presented component unit.  In determining the financial reporting 
entity, the Authority complies with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 14, “The Financial 
Reporting Entity.” As a discretely presented component unit, the Authority is a separate legal entity, 
but the Police Jury has an oversight relationship with the Authority. The accompanying statements 
present only the transactions of the Authority and have been prepared in conformity with the 
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34 Basic Financial Statements 
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments. 

 
NOTE B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accounting policies of the Authority conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the 
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles.   
   

1. Basis for Accounting 
 
The measurement focus is on the flow of economic resources and the accrual basis of 
accounting; whereby revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when 
incurred. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority’s 
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
2. Budget Policy 
 

A proposed budget is prepared and submitted to the Board of Commissioners prior to the 
beginning of each year. A budget summary and notice of public hearing is published with 
the public hearing being conducted prior to the commencement of the budget year. 
 

The annual operating budget prepared on the accrual basis of accounting covers all Authority 
activities. At the end of the fiscal year unexpended appropriations automatically lapse. 
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NOTE B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 
3. Capital Assets and Depreciation 
 
Property and equipment are stated at actual or estimated historical cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation.  The Authority generally capitalizes assets with a cost of $2,500 or more.  
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as 
follows: 
        Years 
 Building and improvements    30-40 
 Land improvements     10-40 
 Machinery and equipment     3-10 
 Furniture and fixtures      5-10 
 
4. Operating Revenues and Expenses 
 
The Authority distinguishes between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses in 
its Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.  For this purpose, all 
revenues generated by operations at the airport are reported as operating revenues.    
Operating expenses include all of the costs of operating the airport.  As a result, nonoperating 
revenues and expenses include all investing and financing transactions, including passenger 
and customer facilities charges required to be used to finance the capital structure of the 
Authority.  Ad valorem taxes and certain grants dedicated to airport operation are also 
reported as nonoperating revenues.  However, these revenues are reported as a source of 
operating cash flows in the Statement of Cash Flows based on GASB Statement 9. 
 
5. Lease Receivable  
 
The Authority leases its property to commercial airlines, car rental companies, 
concessionaires, fixed base operators who service the airline industry, the FAA, and others.  
A significant portion of these leases are non-cancelable operating leases. The car rental 
companies pay rent of 10% of monthly gross revenue with a $2,000 minimum monthly lease 
amount.  
 
The cost of leased building property is $2,945,179 and the amount of accumulated 
depreciation as of December 31, 2023 was $1,322,045. Contingent rentals received for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $452,596 and $429,832, respectively. 
 
The Authority implemented GASBS No. 87 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022.  Under this statement, a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred 
inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about 
the governments’ leasing activities.  The lease receivable is measured at the present value of 
lease payments expected to be received during the lease term discounted using interest rate 
of 2.975%.  
 

----
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Lease Receivable (continued) 
Leases receivables, lease revenue and lease interest revenue related to long term leases as of 
December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 
                                       Lease                  Lease                          Lease 
Property/Term                Date               Receivable                Revenue  Interest 
Acadian Ambulance 
  10 year              9/1/2023      $139,916                   $9,883    $1,442 
GSA 
  20 year   8/1/2019      434,099        26,941    13,258 
Airport Properties 
  10 year 
  4 10 year options  1/1/2022   1,047,983        21,235    31,291 
Rental Cars   
  5 year    1/1/2020      160,310        95,146      6,278 
Chevron   
  10 year 
  4 10 year options                7/28/2014      515,123        12,395    15,429 
Dunham Price 
  10 year                         6/1/2020               121,699        17,062      3,815 
ERA  
 various                                      various            1,029,450                     149,357                     32,760                        
Freeman Holding 
 10 year 
  4 5 year options                    7/1/2014            1,066,579                       50,664                     32,333 
MSRC 
 10 year    
  3 10 year options                  4/1/1994               280,720                       25,455                       8,607 
Vision Aviation 
 10 year 
  2 10 year options                  7/1/2014               286,227                         5,419                       8,554         
Other various tenants                various            1,005,184                     276,562                     33,431 
 Total                $6,087,290   $690,119          $187,198 
 
 Future payments due to the Authority under non-cancelable agreements are as follows: 

 
Year ended December 31            Principal     Interest 
2024               $548,137              $173,635   
2025      486,782     158,196    
2026      491,586     143,508 
2027      412,891     129,830 
2028      514,644     132,338 
Thereafter             3,633,250  1,660,684   
 Total           $6,087,290           $2,398,191 
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NOTE B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 

 
6. Deferred Inflows of Resources related to Leases 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred 
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies to 
future periods and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resourced (revenue) until that 
time. Accordingly the Authority has reported deferred inflows from leases in the amount of 
$5,806,071 and $6,057,851 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

  
7. Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable represents amounts due from various Federal and State Agencies and 
customers and is deemed to be fully collectible by management. Insurance proceeds 
receivable are based on estimated recovery amounts, but the final potential settlement has 
not yet been determined.   
 
8. Statement of Cash Flows 
  
For purposes of reporting cash flows all highly liquid investments (including restricted 
assets) with a maturity of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents.  

 
9.    Use of Estimates 
 
The financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles and, accordingly, include amounts that are based on management’s best estimates 
and judgments. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 
NOTE C. CASH 
 

Under Louisiana Revised Statutes 39:1225, the Authority may deposit funds in demand deposit 
accounts, interest bearing demand deposit accounts, money market accounts, and time certificates 
of deposit with state banks, organized under Louisiana Law and National Banks having a principal 
office in Louisiana.  Additionally, Louisiana statutes allow the Authority to invest in United States 
Treasury obligations, obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States government or federal 
agencies, and mutual or trust funds register with the Securities and Exchange Commission which 
have underlying investments consisting solely of and limited to the United States government or its 
agencies.  In addition, local governments in Louisiana are authorized to invest in the Louisiana Asset 
Management Pool, Inc. (LAMP), a nonprofit corporation formed by an initiative of the State  
 
At December 31, 2023, the Authority had cash and cash equivalents (book balances) totaling 
$6,275,658. Of that balance, $1,563,550 is included in Restricted Cash. 
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NOTE C. CASH (continued) 
 
At December 31, 2022, the Authority had cash and cash equivalents (book balances) totaling 
$8,899,100. Of that balance, $1,346,686 is included in Restricted Cash. 
 
These deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market.  Under state law, these deposits (or 
the resulting bank balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of securities.  
The market value of the pledged securities plus the federal deposit insurance must at all times equal 
the amount on deposit with the fiscal agent. These securities are held by the pledging financial 
institution’s trust department or agent, in the Authority’s name. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may not 
be returned. The Authority deposits its cash with high quality financial institutions, and management 
believes the Authority is not exposed to significant credit risk. 
 
At December 31, 2023, the Authority had $6,308,229 in deposits (collected bank balances).  These 
deposits are secured from risk by $250,000 of federal deposit insurance and $6,179,394 of pledged 
securities held in a custodial bank in the Authority’s name.   
 
At December 31, 2022, the Authority had  $8,921,648 in deposits (collected bank balances).  These 
deposits are secured from risk by $250,000 of federal deposit insurance and $8,845,082 of pledged 
securities held in a custodial bank in the Authority’s name. 
 
Interest Rate Risk is the risk that changes in the interest rate will adversely affect the fair value of 
the investment.  At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Authority did not have investments in any 
debt instruments.   
 
NOTE D. PENSION PLAN 
Parochial Employees’ Retirement System 
Plan Description 
 
The Parochial Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (System) is the administrator of a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The System was originally established by 
Act 205 of the 1952 regular session of the Legislature of the State of Louisiana. 
 
The System provides retirement benefits to employees of any parish within the State of Louisiana or 
any governing body or a parish which employs and pays persons serving the parish.  Act 765 of the 
year 1979, established by the Legislature of the State of Louisiana, revised the System to create 
Plan A and Plan B to replace the “regular plan” and the “supplemental plan”. Plan A was designated 
for employers out of Social Security.  Plan B was designated for those employers that remained in 
Social Security on the revision date. The Authority is a participating member of Plan A. 
 
The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general information 
purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 
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Eligibility Requirements 
 
All permanent parish government employees (except those employed by Orleans, Lafourche and 
East Baton Rouge Parishes) who work at least 28 hours a week shall become members on the date 
of employment. New employees meeting the age and Social Security criteria have up to 90 days 
from the date of hire to elect to participate. 

 
As of January 1997, elected officials, except coroners, justices of the peace, and parish presidents 
may no longer join the System. 

Retirement Benefits 
 
Any member of Plan A can retire providing he/she meets one of the following criteria: 

 

For employees hired prior to January 1, 2007: 
1. Any age with thirty (30) or more years of creditable service. 
2. Age 55 with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service. 
3. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) years of creditable service. 
4. Age 65 with a minimum of seven (7) years of creditable service. 
 

For employees hired after January 1, 2007: 
1. Age 55 with 30 years of service. 
2. Age 62 with 10 years of service. 
3. Age 67 with 7 years of service. 

 
Any member of Plan B can retire providing he/she meets one of the following criteria: 

 

For employees hired prior to January 1, 2007: 
1. Age 55 with thirty (30) years of creditable service. 
2. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) years of creditable service. 
3. Age 65 with a minimum of seven (7) years of creditable service. 
 

For employees hired after January 1, 2007: 
1. Age 55 with 30 years of service. 
2. Age 62 with 10 years of service. 
3. Age 67 with 7 years of service. 
 

Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance of any member of Plan A and Plan B 
shall consist of an amount equal to three percent and two percent, respectively, of the member’s 
final average compensation multiplied by his/her years of creditable service. However, under certain 
conditions, as outlined in the statutes, the benefits are limited to specified amounts. 

Survivor Benefits 
 
Upon the death of any member of Plan A with five (5) or more years of creditable service who is 
not eligible for retirement, the plan provides for benefits for the surviving spouse and minor children, 
as outlined in the statutes. 
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NOTE D. PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
Any member of Plan A, who is eligible for normal retirement at time of death, the surviving spouse 
shall receive an automatic Option 2 benefit, as outlined in the statutes. Plan B members need ten 
(10) years of service credit to be eligible for survivor benefits. Upon the death of any member of 
Plan B with twenty (20) or more years of creditable service who is not eligible for normal retirement, 
the plan provides for an automatic Option 2 benefit for the surviving spouse when he/she reaches 
age 50 and until remarriage, if the remarriage occurs before age 55. 

 
A surviving spouse who is not eligible for Social Security survivorship or retirement benefits, and 
married not less than twelve (12) months immediately preceding death of the member, shall be paid 
an Option 2 benefit beginning at age 50. 
 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan 

 
Act 338 of 1990 established the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) for the Retirement 
System. DROP is an option for that member who is eligible for normal retirement. In lieu of 
terminating employment and accepting a service retirement, any member of Plan A or B who is 
eligible to retire may elect to participate in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) in which 
they are enrolled for three years and defer the receipt of benefits. During participation in the plan, 
employer contributions are payable but employee contributions cease. The monthly retirement 
benefits that would be payable, had the person elected to cease employment and receive a service 
retirement allowance, are paid into the DROP Fund. 
 
Upon termination of employment prior to or at the end of the specified period of participation, a 
participant in the DROP may receive, at his option, a lump sum from the account equal to the 
payments into the account, a true annuity based upon his account balance in that fund, or roll over 
the fund to an Individual Retirement Account. Interest is accrued on the DROP benefits for the 
period between the end of DROP participation and the member’s retirement date. 
 
For individuals who become eligible to participate in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan on or 
after January 1, 2004, all amounts which remain credited to the individual’s subaccount after 
termination in the Plan will be placed in liquid asset money market investments at the discretion of 
the board of trustees. These subaccounts may be credited with interest based on money market rates 
of return or, at the option of the System, the funds may be credited to self-directed subaccounts. The 
participant in the self-directed portion of this Plan must agree that the benefits payable to the 
participant are not the obligations of the state or the System, and that any returns and other rights of 
the Plan are the sole liability and responsibility of the participant and the designated provider to 
which contributions have been made. 
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NOTE D. PENSION PLAN - Continued 
 
Disability Benefits 

 
For Plan A, a member shall be eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit if they were hired 
prior to January 1, 2007, and has at least five years of creditable service or if hired after January 1, 
2007, has seven years of creditable service, and is not eligible for normal retirement and has been 
officially certified as disabled by the State Medical Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by 
disability, a member of Plan A shall be paid a disability benefit equal to the lesser of an amount 
equal to three percent of the member’s final average compensation multiplied by his years of service, 
not to be less than fifteen, or three percent multiplied by years of service assuming continued service 
to age sixty for those members who are enrolled prior to January 1, 2007 and to age 62 for those 
members who are enrolled January 1, 2007 and later. 

 
For Plan B, a member shall be eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit if he/she was hired 
prior to January 1, 2007, and has at least five years of creditable service or if hired after January 1, 
2007, has seven years of creditable service, and is not eligible for normal retirement, and has been 
officially certified as disabled by the State Medical Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by 
disability, a member of Plan B shall be paid a disability benefit equal to the lesser of an amount 
equal to two percent of the member’s final average compensation multiplied by his years of service, 
to age sixty for those members who are enrolled prior to January 1, 2007 and to age sixty-two for 
those members who are enrolled January 1, 2007 and later. 
 
Cost of Living Increases 

 
The Board is authorized to provide a cost of living allowance for those retirees who retired prior to 
July 1973. The adjustment cannot exceed 2% of the retiree’s original benefit for each full calendar 
year since retirement and may only be granted if sufficient funds are available from investment 
income in excess of normal requirements. 
 
In addition, the Board may provide an additional cost of living increase to all retirees and 
beneficiaries who are over age sixty-five equal to 2% of the member’s benefit paid on October 1, 
1977, (or the member’s retirement date, if later). Also, the Board may provide a cost of living 
increase up to 2.5% for retirees 62 and older. (RS 11:1937). Lastly, Act 270 of 2009 provided for 
further reduced actuarial payments to provide an annual 2.5% cost of living adjustment commencing 
at age 55. 

 
Employer Contributions 

 
According to state statute, contributions for all employers are actuarially determined each year. For 
the year ended December 31, 2022, the actuarially determined contribution rate was 7.10% of 
member’s compensation for Plan A and 4.93% of member’s compensation for Plan B. However, 
the actual rate for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023 was 11.50% for Plan A and 7.50% for 
Plan B. The actual rate for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 was 11.50% for Plan A and 
7.50% for Plan B. 
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NOTE D. PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
According to state statute, the System also receives ¼ of 1% of ad valorem taxes collected within 
the respective parishes, except for Orleans and East Baton Rouge parishes. The System also receives 
revenue sharing funds each year as appropriated by the Legislature. Tax monies and revenue sharing 
monies are apportioned between Plan A and Plan B in proportion to the member’s compensation. 
These additional sources of income are used as additional employer contributions and are considered 
support from non-employer contributing entities. 

 
The payroll for the Authority employees covered by the system for the year ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022 was $1,119,113 and $971,186; the Authority’s total payroll and accrued benefits for 
2023 and 2022 was $1,711,714 and $1,524,777, respectively. The Authority contributed $128,698 
and $111,686 to the system during the years 2023 and 2022. As of December 31, 2023, the total 
amount owed to the Parochial Retirement System was $18,325 for December contributions. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At December 31, 2023, the Authority reported underfunding of $486,018 for its proportionate 
share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2022, 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the allocated net pension liability was determined on 
a basis that is consistent with the manner in which contributions to the pension plan are determined. 
The allocation percentages were used in calculating each employer’s proportionate share of the 
pension amounts. The allocation method used in determining each employer’s proportion was based 
on the employer’s projected contribution effort to the plan. The employers’ contribution effort 
was actuarially determined by the System’s actuary. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Authority recognized pension expense of $211,132. At 
December 31, 2023, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 
 Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Differences between expected and actual experience    $17,969 $53,547 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments 513,079 - 
Changes in assumptions  15,511 ‐ 
Differences between Authority contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 5,430 - 
Authority contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date 128,698 - 
Total $680,687 $53,547 
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NOTE D. PENSION PLAN – Continued  
 

The Authority’s contributions during the year ended December 31, 2023, reported as deferred 
outflows, of $128,698 subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as reduction of the 
net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31:    
2024 $(19,591) 
2025                  (84,192) 
2026 (164,648) 
2027 (230,011) 
2028 - 
Thereafter  $          -  

 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 
The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit 
payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive employees that is 
attributed to those employees’ past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan’s fiduciary 
net position. 
 
A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability as 
of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 
Valuation Date December 31, 2022 
Actuarial Cost Method Plan A - Entry Age Normal  
 Plan B – Entry Age Normal 
Actuarial Assumptions: 
   Investment Rate of Return 6.4%, net of investment exp, with inflation 
   Projected Salary Increases Plan A - 4.75% (2.30% Inflation, 2.45% Merit) 
 Plan B – 4.25% (2.30% Inflation, 1.95% Merit) 
   Mortality Rates: 
     Employees:  Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for General        

 Employees multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females,     
                                                            each with full generational projection using the MP2018 scale. 
    Annuitants and beneficiaries: Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for Healthy        

 Retirees multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females,     
                                                            each with full generational projection using the MP2018 scale. 
    Disabled retirees: Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for General Disabled 

Retirees multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females each with 
full generational projection using the MP2018 scale. 

Expected Remaining 
    Service Lives 4 years for Plan A and Plan B 
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NOTE D. PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
Cost of Living Adjustments The present value of future retirement benefits is based on benefits currently 

being paid by the System and includes previously granted cost of living 
increases. The present values do not include provisions for potential future 
increase not yet authorized by the Board of Trustees. 

 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.40% for Plan A and Plan B. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan 
members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions from participating 
employers and non-employer contributing entities will be made at the actuarially determined 
contribution rates, which are calculated in accordance with relevant statutes and approved by the 
Board of Trustees and the Public Retirement Systems’ Actuarial Committee. Based on those 
assumptions, the System’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return 
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine 
the total pension liability., and in conjunction with the statutory and constitutional provisions 
affecting the Parochial Employees' Retirement System with regard to actuarial funding of the 
retirement system, the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make 
all projected future benefit payments to current plan members.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
triangulation method which integrated the capital asset pricing model (top-down), a treasury yield 
curve approach (bottom-up) and an equity building-block model (bottom-up). Risk return and 
correlations are projected on a forward-looking basis in equilibrium, in which best estimates of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and 
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These rates are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation of 2.10% and an adjustment for the effect of 
rebalancing/diversification. The resulting expected long-term rate of return is 7.70% for the year 
ended December 31, 2022.  

 
Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the System’s 
target asset allocation as of December 31, 2022 are summarized in the following table: 

 Target Asset Long-Term Expected 
Asset Class Allocation Portfolio Real Rate of Return 
Fixed income 33% 1.17% 
Equity 51% 3.58% 
Alternatives 14% 0.73% 
Real assets 2% 0.12% 
Totals 100% 5.60% 
     
Inflation  2.10% 
Expected Arithmetic Nominal Return  7.70% 
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NOTE D. PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
The mortality rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study performed on plan 
data for the period January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2017. The data was then assigned 
credibility weighting and combined with a standard table to produce current levels of mortality. As 
a result of this study, mortality for employees was set equal to Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans 
Mortality Table for General Employees multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females, each 
with full generational projection using the MP2018 scale. In addition, mortality for annuitants and 
beneficiaries was set equal to Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for Healthy Retirees 
multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females, each with full generational projection using the 
MP2018 scale. For Disabled annuitants mortality was set to Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans 
Mortality Table for General Disabled Retirees multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females 
each with full generational projection using the MP2018 scale. 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the net pension liability/asset of the participating employers calculated using 
the discount rate of 6.40%, as well as what the employers’ net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.40%) or one percentage point 
higher (7.40%) than the current rate. 
 

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase 
5.40% 6.40% 7.40% 

Net Pension Liability Net Pension Liability Net Pension Asset 
$1,201,938  $486,018 $(114,190) 

 
Retirement System Audit Report 
 
The Parochial Employees’ Retirement System of Louisiana has issued a stand-alone audit report 
on their financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. Access to the report can be 
found on the Louisiana Legislative Auditor’s website, www.lla.la.gov. 
 
NOTE E. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 

 
In 2018, the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury (Parish) implemented Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB).  This Statement addresses the fact that 
certain postemployment benefits other than pensions, which for the Parish consist of healthcare 
benefits only, are related to employee services and salaries received presently but that will 
benefit the employee in the future – upon retirement – and whose costs will be borne by the 
Parish in the future.  The Statement also attempts to quantify the future “retirement” costs that 
have been earned by the employee during his/her active years of employment. The Parish will 
finance the postemployment benefits on a “pay-as-you-go” basis. 
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NOTE E. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) – Continued 
 
GASB Statement 75 requires that the liability be recognized in the financial statements for the 
actuarial determined portion of the projected benefit payments to be provided to current active 
and inactive employees that is attributed to those employees’ past periods of service.  The notes 
to the financial statements contain other required disclosure information from GASB Statement 
75. 

 

The Parish contracted with a third-party consultant to perform the actuarial valuation required 
by GASB Statement No. 75 as of January 1, 2023 with a measurement date of December 31, 
2023. For the Parish plan, the actuarial valuation is required every other year, therefore, the 
actuarial valuation prepared will be utilized for the two-year periods of 2022 and 2023 with the 
inclusion of the appropriate second year adjustments. The 2023 valuation included a change in 
assumption for a decrease in the discount rate (described in the table below).  
 
Actuarial valuations for OPEB plans involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. These actuarially determined 
amounts are subject to continual revisions as actual results are compared to past expectations 
and new estimates are made about the future. 
 
Plan Description: The Parish OPEB Plan is a single employer defined benefit “substantive” plan 
as understood by the employer and its employees. All of the employees of the Parish primary 
government and the following discretely presented component units may at their option 
participate in the employee’s group health, dental, and life insurance programs sponsored and 
administered by the Parish in conjunction with its third-party insurance providers and 
administrative agents: 

 

14th Judicial District Attorney Gravity Drainage Dist. No. 2 of Ward 7 

Calcasieu Parish Coroner Gravity Drainage Dist. No. 8 of Ward 1 

Community and Playground District No. 4 of    
    Ward 1 

Gravity Drainage Dist. No. 6 of Wards 5 & 6 

Sulphur Parks and Recreation Gravity Drainage Dist. No. 9 of Ward 2 

Airport Authority Dist. No. 1  Recreation District No. 5 of Ward 4 

Fire Protection Dist. No. 1 of Ward 1 Recreation District No. 7 of Ward 8 

Fire Protection Dist. No. 2 of Ward 4 Waterworks Dist. No. 1 of Ward 3 

Fire Protection Dist. No. 1 of Ward 6 Waterworks Dist. No. 1 of Ward 4 

Fire Protection Dist. No. 2 of Ward 8  Waterworks Dist. No. 10 of Ward 7 

Calcasieu Parish Communications District Waterworks Dist. No. 9 of Ward 4 

14th Judicial District Criminal Court Fund Waterworks Dist. No. 7 of Wards 6 & 4 

Consolidated Gravity Drainage District #1 (West)  Waterworks Dist. No. 14 of Ward 5 

Consolidated Gravity Drainage District #2 (East)  Waterworks Dist. No. 11 of Wards 4 & 7 

Gravity Drainage Dist. No. 4 of Ward 3  West Calcasieu Community Center 
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NOTE E. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) – Continued 
 
While there is no specific written plan for the Parish OPEB plan alone and therefore no separate 
annual report is issued, the Parish has reported this plan information based on communications 
to plan members via the written health plan maintained by the Parish.  Any amendments to the 
general health plan as related to types of benefits offered are required to be approved by Parish 
management before being distributed to Plan members.  No assets are accumulated in a trust 
that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. 
 
Benefits Provided:  The Parish OPEB Plan provides health (medical and prescription), dental 
and life insurance programs for retirees and their dependents.  Medical coverage, including 
prescription drugs as part of the medical plan, is offered to pre-65 and post-65 retirees on a 
self-insured basis. Benefits are subsidized by the Parish. Dental and life insurance coverage 
are available to retirees, but these coverages are not subsidized by the Parish. The Parish does 
not reimburse for Medicare Part B or Part D premium for Medicare eligible retirees and 
dependents. 
 
Employees Covered:  Employees who have twenty (20) years of cumulative service at retirement 
will be eligible for the above referenced retiree benefits if hired after January 1, 2007. 
 
Employees hired prior to January 1, 2007 must have ten (10) years of cumulative service to be 
eligible for any retiree benefits.  Retirees are required to contribute one hundred percent (100%) 
of the monthly retiree premium for benefits elected.  
 
At December 31, 2023, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 
                Parish      Authority 
 Active Employees                   1,109           17 
 Inactive Employees or Beneficiaries Currently  
  Receiving Benefit Payments      170              - 
 Inactive Employees Entitled to But Not Yet 
  Receiving Benefit Payments           -        - 
 
 Total Covered Employees           1,279          17 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:  Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes 
are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) 
and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern 
of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and the plan members.  The actuarial 
calculations of the OPEB plan reflect a long-term perspective.  Consistent with this perspective, 
the actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the 
effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, 
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 
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NOTE E. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) – Continued 
 
The total OPEB liability for the January 1, 2023 actuarial valuation, with a measurement date 
of December 31, 2023, were determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other 
inputs, unless otherwise specified: 
 
 

Inflation Rate Not utilized by the actuary – see discount rate information. 
 
 
Discount Rate 

3.88% using an average of following two 20-year bond 
indices S & P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Index – 
4.00%, and Fidelity GA AA 20 Years – 3.77%. The discount 
rate of 3.88% was decreased from 4.18% utilized in 2022. 

 
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 

8% for pre-65 and post 65 retirees decreasing .25% per year 
to an ultimate rate of 4.5% in 2032 and later. The healthcare 
rate of 7% increased from 8% in 2021. 

Salary Increases 3.5% 
Cost of Living Increases Not applicable 

Mortality Rate Table Used for Current Valuation 
Society of Actuaries Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2021. 

 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability: The following table shows the components of the Parish’s 
total OPEB liability for the current year: 
 

 
Governmental 

Activities 
Total Primary 
Government 

Parish Plan 
Component 

Units 

Total 
OPEB Plan 

Total OPEB Liability at 
Beginning of Year 

$37,675,722 24,003,108 $13,672,614 $37,675,722 

Current Period Changes:     

   Service Cost 527,885 318,823 209,062 527,885 

   Interest on Total 
   OPEB Liability 

1,429,525 909,846 519,679 1,429,525 

   Differences Between 
   Expected and Actual 
   Experience 

- - - - 

   Changes in Assumptions** 2,000,168 1,238,758 761,410 2,000,168 

   Benefit Payments     (1,664,564)    (1,106,949)   (557,615)  (1,664,564) 

Net Change in Total OPEB 
Liability 

2,293,014 1,360,478 932,536 2,293,014 

Total OPEB Obligation at 
End of Year – 
Measurement Date 

 
$39,968,736 

 
$25,363,586 

 
$14,605,150 

 
$39,968,736 

  ** Changes in assumptions reflect a decrease of 0.30% in the discount rate from 4.18% for 2022 to 3.88% for 2023 
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NOTE E. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) – Continued 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate.  The following presents 
the total OPEB liability, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (2.88%) or one percentage point higher 
(4.88%) than the current discount rate of 3.88%: 

 
 1% Decrease (2.88%) Discount Rate (3.88%) 1% Increase (4.88%) 

Total OPEB Liability Parish $47,696,209 $39,968,736 $34,181,047 
Total OPEB Liability Authority       $546,957     $458,342      $391,972 

 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate. The 
following presents the total OPEB liability, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if 
it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower (6%) or 
one percentage point higher (8%) than the current healthcare cost trend rate of 7%: 

 

 1% Decrease (6%) 
Healthcare Cost Trend 

Rate (7%) 
1% Increase (8%) 

Total OPEB Liability Parish $33,994,726 $39,968,736 $47,675,526 
Total OPEB Liability Authority      $389,835     $458,342      $546,720 

 
Changes to the Total OPEB Liability. The following shows the components of the Authority’s 
annual allocation of OPEB costs for the current year: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Net OPEB Obligation at December 31, 2022 $ 407,651 
Current Period Changes:  
  Service Cost 9,043 
  Interest on Total OPEB Liability       15,745 
  Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience - 
  Changes in Assumptions 29,618 
  Benefit Payments (3,715) 
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability  50,691 
Net OPEB Obligation at December 31, 2023 $ 458,342 
Airport Authority’s Proportionate Percentage of Total Parish OPEB Obligation 1.15% 
Change in Authority’s OPEB Obligation Since the Prior Measurement Date 12.43% 
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NOTE E. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) – Continued 
 
Summary of Deferred Inflows and Outflows: 
 

 Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 

Difference between actual and expected  $              - $           - 

Net difference between expected and actual s                              -                                 - 

Impact due to changes in assumptions                                 - 219,432  

Total $              - $219,432  

 
Amortization of impact due to changes in assumptions is over 10 years or $(21,943) per year. 
 
NOTE F. ANNUAL AND SICK LEAVE 
 
Permanent employees earn one to six weeks of annual leave and two to six weeks of sick leave each 
year depending on length of service with the Authority. A maximum of fifteen days of annual leave 
may be accumulated and carried forward without limitation. Upon termination, employees are paid 
for unused annual leave only. 
 
NOTE G.  AD VALOREM TAXES 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023 taxes of .59 mills were levied on property with taxable 
assessed valuations of $1,999,073,464 and were dedicated to the operation and maintenance of the 
Airport. 
 

Property tax millage rates are adopted on a 10-year basis. All taxes are due and collectible when the 
assessment rolls are filed on or before November 15th of the current year and become delinquent 
after December 31. Property taxes not paid by the end of February are subject to lien.  A renewal 
election was held and passed in April 2014 to levy a .63 millage beginning in 2015 and expiring in 
2024. 
 
NOTE H.  RESTRICTED ASSETS 
 
Assets required to be held and/or used as specified in contractual agreements have been reported 
as Restricted Assets.  Restricted Assets at December 31, 2023, consisted of the following: 

 
                 Total 

 Passenger Facility Charge Funds   $   962,456 
Customer Facility Charge Funds        625,440 

Total Restricted Assets   $1,587,896 
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NOTE I.   PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE 
 
Beginning in 2001, Passenger Facility Charges at the rate of $3 per enplaned passenger had been 
levied by the Authority under Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) approved applications to use 
for airport improvements. Beginning in 2005, the passenger rate was approved to be increased to 
$4.50 per enplaned passenger.  As of December 31, 2023, the total of approved applications are 
$7,365,151.  Since 2001 a total of $3,772,022 has been spent in PFC funds for airport improvements. 
  
Total PFC revenues, including interest, remitted to the Authority for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022 were $353,673 and $254,563, respectively.  During the year ended December 31, 
2023 a total of $94,890 was spent on PFC projects, leaving a balance of $962,456 of PFC funds 
available and restricted for future PFC projects (Note H). 
 
NOTE J. CUSTOMER FACILITY CHARGE 
 
Beginning in August 2009, in accordance with each rental car concession agreement, a Customer 
Facility Charge (CFC) of $3 per day shall be levied on each rental car contract entered into at the 
Airport by lessee. On June 1, 2015, the CFC of $3 per day was increased to $5 per day. Lessee 
agrees to collect said CFC and remit the collection to the Airport Authority separate and apart from 
other rents and fees once per month. CFC revenue will be used by the Airport to accomplish 
improvements that benefit the rental car customers and concessionaries. CFC revenue for the years 
ending December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $321,810 and $299,815, respectively. During the year 
ended December 31, 2023, $421,064 was spent on CFC projects, leaving a balance of $625,440 for 
future CFC projects (Note H). 
 
NOTE K. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets consist of the following: 
            Balance               Balance 
          12/31/22  Additions    Disposals         12/31/23 
Non-depreciable: 
   Land       $ 4,028,498         $                 - $              -       $ 4,028,498 
   Construction in progress       9,901,672            12,497,864          (7,864,456)         14,535,080 
Depreciable: 
   Buildings & Improvements     42,547,822               2,716,664              -        45,264,486 
   Land Improvements      37,782,896    5,144,621             -              42,927,517        
   Machinery & Equipment       5,248,695                 580,290            (198,896)             5,630,089 
   Furniture & Fixtures       1,872,090                   51,132                       -                1,923,222 
   Software            199,397                            -      -             199,397   
Total       101,581,070            20,990,571         (8,063,352)        114,508,289 
Less Accumulated 
  Depreciation                   38,751,646              3,177,226            (198,896)          41,729,976 
 
Net capital assets     $62,829,424          $17,813,345 $(7,864,456)      $72,778,313    
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NOTE L.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTIGENCIES 
 
The Airport participates in a number of federal financial assistance programs.  Although the grant 
programs have been audited, these programs are still subject to financial and compliance audits by 
governmental agencies. 
 
The Authority is subject to pending claims and litigation which arise primarily in the ordinary course 
of business. The Authority does not anticipate any losses with respect to such pending claims and 
litigation as of December 31, 2023. The total legal fees paid during the year ending December 31, 
2023 defending pending claims and litigation were $41,622. 
 
On a continuing basis, the Authority enters into construction contracts for improvements to the 
airport. At December 31, 2023, work was in progress for the improvements as follows: 
 
          Budget Expended to date      Committed 
Loading Bridge    $2,909,507        $2,771,245   $138,262 
Canopy Project      4,125,041          3,920,675    204,366 
FBO                   6,350,000               5,724,146    625,854 
Hangar Development      1,898,115          1,918,510               - 
Group 9 Hangar #2                                           1,215,000                             -            1,215,000  
Miscellaneous Projects                                                   -                   200,504                        - 
   
In August 2020, Hurricane Laura inflicted extensive damage to the Airport.  The Airport is in the 
process of restoring the facilities and has incurred significant costs which are expected to be partially 
reimbursed by their commercial property insurance policy, the Louisiana Department of 
Transportation and Development, and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  The 
Airport has filed an insurance claim and has approved insurance reimbursements of $6,297,591, net 
of their deductible of $624,526. The Airport is undertaking efforts to obtain additional insurance 
reimbursements from the hurricane damages, but the final potential settlement has not yet been 
determined. 
 
The restorative efforts of the remaining damages to the facilities are considered repairs and expensed 
as incurred. Restorative expenditures included in repairs expense total $14,864 and $86,080 for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. During 2023, the Airport completed $521,294 in capital 
asset replacement costs to the facilities. Additional estimated costs to completely restore the 
facilities could range up to $1,000,000. 
 
The Airport is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Airport maintains 
commercial insurance coverage covering each of those risks of loss. Management believes such 
coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses to the Airport. Settled claims have 
not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. The Airport reduced the 
insurance coverage in 2023 due to limited insurance availability in the geographic area. 
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NOTE M. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 

  
Beginning 

of Year 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Reductions 

 
 

End of Year 

Amounts 
Due Within 
One Year 

Net Pension 
Liability (Asset) 

 
$(613,675)  

 
$ 1,099,693  

 
$         -    

 
$486,018 

 
$           -     

OPEB Liability  407,651           50,691               -        458,342              - 
 



 

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards 
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Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 

 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

 
For the Year ended December 31, 2023 

 
 
       Assistance 
Federal Grantor/Pass-through                                       Listing         Federal 
        Grantor/Program Title      Number            Expenditures 
 
U. S. Department of Transportation 
    Federal Aviation Administration 
    Airport Improvement Program    20.106*                $3,315,207 
    COVID-19 Airport Improvement Program  20.106*       7,492,801 
     Total Airport Improvement Program        10,808,008 
 
Federal Emergency Management Agency 
    Passed through the Louisiana Office of Homeland 
    Security and Emergency Preparedness 
 Hurricane Laura Recovery Program   97.036*                         869,380 
 
US Department of Homeland Security     
   Transportation Security Administration 
    Law Enforcement Personnel  
    Reimbursement Agreement    97.090                      49,855 
         
 
 
 Total expenditures of federal awards     $11,727,243 
 
  
 
 
* Major Program 
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Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
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NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

 
For the Year ended December 31, 2023 

 
 
NOTE A – BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes 
the federal award activity of Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
(the Authority) under programs of the federal government for the year ended December 
31, 2023. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of 
the operations of the Authority, it is not intended to and does not present the financial 
position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the Authority. 
 
NOTE B – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement. 
 
NOTE C – INDIRECT COST RATE 
 
The Authority has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate as 
allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 

 
SCHEDULE OF COMPENSATION, BENEFITS, AND OTHER 

PAYMENTS TO AGENCY HEAD OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

For the Year ended December 31, 2023 
 
 
 
 

AGENCY HEAD NAME: HEATH ALLEN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 

 
 
 

PURPOSE AMOUNT 

Salary $177,445  
Benefits  

Insurance 15,573 
Retirement 20,406 

Car Allowance 12,000 
Phone Allowance 900 
Per Diem 4,375 
Conference registration and related travel 25,046 
 

 
TOTAL $255,745  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED 

 ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE  
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Airport Authority for Airport District #1 
of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of  
the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 
 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu 
Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated May 15, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Airport Authority for Airport 
District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for 
the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu 
Parish Police Jury’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport 
Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal 
control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that 
have not been identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu 
Parish, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing 
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.   

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 

 
Steven M DeRouen & Associates LLC 
 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
May 15, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM  
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY  

THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Airport Authority for Airport District #1 
of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of 
the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 
 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish 
Police Jury’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject in the OMB Compliance Supplement 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Authority’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 
2023. Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s major 
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police 
Jury complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct 
and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our responsibilities under 
those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the 
Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Airport 
Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s compliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, 
component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on Airport Authority for Airport District #1 
of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than 
for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu 
Parish Police Jury’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding Airport 
Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s compliance 
with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the 
Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with 
the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Airport Authority for 
Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish, component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury’s internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we 
identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance 
with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a 
type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.  However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance 
and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  

Steven M. DeRouen & Associates, LLC 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 
May 15, 2024 
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Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 
December 31, 2023 

 
 
Financial Statements       

Type of auditor’s report issued      Unmodified 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
    Material weaknesses identified?  Yes  X No 

 

Significant deficiencies identified not considered to 
be material weaknesses?  Yes  X None reported 

 

Noncompliance material to financial statements 
     noted?  Yes  X No 

 

Federal Awards 

      

Internal control over major programs:       
Material weaknesses identified?  Yes  X No  
Significant deficiencies identified not considered to 
be material weaknesses? 

 
Yes 

 
X None reported 

 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance 
     for major programs: 

    
 Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
     to be reported in accordance with the Uniform              
Guidance?  Yes 

 

X No 

 

Identification of major programs: 

      

Assistance 
Listing Number 

 
Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

 

20.106 
 

 
97.036 

US Department of Transportation 
Airport Improvement Program 
 
Passed through the Louisiana Office of  
Homeland Security and Emergency 
Preparedness 
 
Department of Homeland Security 
Disaster Grants – Public Assistance 
(Presidentially Declared Disasters) 
 

   

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
     Type A and Type B programs: $750,000    

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X Yes   No  
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Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
Lake Charles, Louisiana 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

Section II – Financial Statement Findings 
 

Current Audit 
 
None 
 
Prior Audit 
 
None 
 

SECTION III – Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of non-compliance with the requirements applicable to each 
major federal program that are required to be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance. 
 



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Authority's proportion of the net pension

  liability (asset) 0.100% 0.099% 0.105% 0.115% 0.126%

Authority's proportionate share of the 

     net pension liability (asset) 27,215$      260,849$    215,551$   (85,334)$       559,491$      

Authority's covered-employee payroll 567,821$    668,300$    707,508$   765,295$      787,185$      

Authority's proportionate share of the net

  pension liability as a percentage of its

  covered-employee payroll 4.8% 39.03% 30.47% -11.15% 71.07%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

  of the total pension liability 99.14% 92.23% 94.15% 101.98% 88.86%

2020 2021 2022 2023

Authority's proportion of the net pension

  liability (asset) 0.123% 0.129% 0.130% 0.126%

Authority's proportionate share of the 

     net pension liability (asset) 5,789$        (225,587)$  (613,675)$  486,018$      

Authority's covered-employee payroll 852,277$    874,093$    971,186$   1,119,113$   

Authority's proportionate share of the net

  pension liability as a percentage of its

  covered-employee payroll 0.68% -25.81% -63.19% 43.43%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

  of the total pension liability 99.89% 104.00% 110.46% 91.74%

The schedule is intended to report information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year.

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

AIRPORT AUTHORITY FOR AIRPORT DISTRICT #1
Lake Charles, Louisiana

Parochial Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana
Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

For The Year Ended December 31, 2023
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Contractually required contribution 82,334$      86,879$      88,438$      88,009$      90,526$      

Contributions in relation to the 

  contractually required contribution 82,334$      86,879$      88,438$      88,009$      90,526$      

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Authority's covered-employee payroll 567,821$    668,300$    707,508$    765,295$    787,185$    

Contributions as a percentage of 

  covered-employee payroll 14.50% 13.00% 12.50% 11.50% 11.50%

2020 2021 2022 2023

Contractually required contribution 104,404$    107,076$    111,686$    128,698$    

Contributions in relation to the 

  contractually required contribution 104,404$    107,076$    111,686$    128,698$    

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$            -$            -$            -$            

Authority's covered-employee payroll 852,277$    874,093$    971,186$    1,119,113$ 

Contributions as a percentage of 

  covered-employee payroll 12.25% 12.25% 11.50% 11.50%

The schedule is intended to report information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year.

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

AIRPORT AUTHORITY FOR AIRPORT DISTRICT #1
Lake Charles, Louisiana

Parochial Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana
Schedule of the Authority's Contributions
For The Year Ended December 31, 2023
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Airport

Authority OPEB

Difference Airport liability as a Proportionate

Financial between actual Changes of Net change in Total OPEB Total OPEB Authority percentage of Percentage of

statement Measurement Service and expected assumptions or Benefit total OPEB liability - liability - Covered covered Collective Total

reporting date Date Cost Interest experience other inputs payments liability beginning ending payroll payroll OPEB Liability

12/31/2018 12/31/2018 10,071$   22,910$   -$                -$                20,397$   12,584$          597,631$    610,215$    701,411$    87.00% 1.50%

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 12,006$   22,664$   -$                176,791$         10,949$   200,512$        610,215$    810,727$    795,087$    101.97% 1.57%

12/31/2020 12/31/2020 9,557$     16,332$   -$                (196,077)$       4,376$     (174,564)$       810,727$    636,163$    819,777$    77.60% 1.10%

12/31/2021 12/31/2021 9,865$     13,001$   -$                (5,903)$           3,968$     12,995$          636,163$    649,158$    958,850$    67.70% 1.13%

12/31/2022 12/31/2022 8,423$     27,059$   -$                (273,372)$       3,617$     (241,507)$       649,158$    407,651$    951,210$    42.86% 1.08%

12/31/2023 12/31/2023 9,043$     15,745$   -$                29,618$           3,715$     50,691$          407,651$    458,342$    1,306,711$ 35.08% 1.15%

The schedule is intended to report information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75.

Benefit Changes:

There were no changes of benefit terms for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

AIRPORT AUTHORITY FOR AIRPORT DISTRICT #1
Lake Charles, Louisiana

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
For The Year Ended December 31, 2023
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Steven M DeRouen & associates LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

2720 Rue de jardin, suite 300 
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Lake Charles, LA 70606 
(337) 513-4915 OFFICE/ (337) 205-6927 FAX 

steve@sderouencpa.com 
Member American Institute of  Member Louisiana Society of 
Certified Public Accountants Certified Public Accountants 

 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT 
ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

 

To the Board of Commissioners of Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
and the Louisiana Legislative Auditor: 
 
We have performed the procedures enumerated below on the control and compliance (C/C) areas 
identified in the Louisiana Legislative Auditor’s (LLA’s) Statewide Agreed-Upon Procedures 
(SAUPs) for the fiscal period January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023.  Airport Authority for 
Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish’s management is responsible for those C/C areas identified 
in the SAUPs. 
 
Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish has agreed to and acknowledged that 
the procedures performed are appropriate to meet the intended purpose of the engagement, which 
is to perform specified procedures on the C/C areas identified in LLA’s SAUPs for the fiscal period 
January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023.  Additionally, LLA has agreed to and acknowledged 
that the procedures performed are appropriate for its purposes.  This report may not be suitable for 
any other purpose.  The procedures performed may not address all the items of interest to a user 
of this report and may not meet the needs of all users of this report and, as such, users are 
responsible for determining whether the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes.   
 
The procedures and associated findings are as follows: 
 
1) Written Policies and Procedures 
 
A. Obtain and inspect the entity’s written policies and procedures and observe whether they 

address each of the following categories and subcategories if applicable to public funds and 
the entity’s operations: 

i. Budgeting, including preparing, adopting, monitoring, and amending the budget. 
ii. Purchasing, including (1) how purchases are initiated; (2) how vendors are added to the 

vendor list; (3) the preparation and approval process of purchase requisitions and purchase 
orders; (4) controls to ensure compliance with the Public Bid Law; and (5) documentation 
required to be maintained for all bids and price quotes.  



iii. Disbursements, including processing, reviewing, and approving. 
iv. Receipts/Collections, including receiving, recording, and preparing deposits.  Also, 

policies and procedures should include management’s actions to determine the 
completeness of all collections for each type of revenue or agency fund additions (e.g., 
periodic confirmation with outside parties, reconciliation to utility billing after cutoff 
procedures, reconciliation of traffic ticket number sequences, agency fund forfeiture 
monies confirmation). 

v. Payroll/Personnel, including (1) payroll processing, (2) reviewing and approving time and 
attendance records, including leave and overtime worked, and (3) approval process for 
employee(s) rate of pay or approval and maintenance of pay rate schedules. 

vi. Contracting, including (1) types of services requiring written contracts, (2) standard terms 
and conditions, (3) legal review, (4) approval process, and (5) monitoring process. 

vii. Travel and Expense Reimbursement, including (1) allowable expenses, (2) dollar 
thresholds by category of expense, (3) documentation requirements, and (4) required 
approvers. 

viii. Credit Cards (and debit cards, fuel cards, P-Cards, if applicable), including (1) how cards 
are to be controlled, (2) allowable business uses, (3) documentation requirements, (4) 
required approvers of statements, and (5) monitoring card usage (e.g., determining the 
reasonableness of fuel card purchases). 

ix. Ethics, including (1) the prohibitions as defined in Louisiana Revised Statute (R.S.) 
42:1111-1121, (2) actions to be taken if an ethics violation takes place, (3) system to 
monitor possible ethics violations, and (4) a requirement that documentation is maintained 
to demonstrate that all employees and officials were notified of any changes to the entity’s 
ethics policy. 

x. Debt Service, including (1) debt issuance approval, (2) continuing disclosure/EMMA 
reporting requirements, (3) debt reserve requirements, and (4) debt service requirements. 

xi. Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity, including (1) 
identification of critical data and frequency of data backups, (2) storage of backups in a 
separate physical location isolated from the network, (3) periodic testing/verification that 
backups can be restored, (4) use of antivirus software on all systems, (5) timely application 
of all available system and software patches/updates, and (6) identification of personnel, 
processes, and tools needed to recover operations after a critical event. 

xii. Prevention of Sexual Harassment, including R.S. 42:342-344 requirements for (1) agency 
responsibilities and prohibitions, (2) annual employee training, and (3) annual reporting. 

 
Were any exceptions found? - Yes 
 
We performed the Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity procedure 
(1Axi) and discussed the results with management. 
 
Exception (1Axii): The District does not have language in written policy that stipulates the 
required items - (3) annual reporting. 



2) Board or Finance Committee 
 
A. Obtain and inspect the board/finance committee minutes for the fiscal period, as well as the 

board’s enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or equivalent document in effect during the fiscal 
period, and: 
 

i. Observe that the board/finance committee met with a quorum at least monthly, or on a 
frequency in accordance with the board’s enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or other 
equivalent document. 

ii. For those entities reporting on the governmental accounting model, observe whether the 
minutes referenced or included monthly budget-to-actual comparisons on the general fund, 
quarterly budget-to-actual, at a minimum, on proprietary funds, and semi-annual budget- 
to-actual, at a minimum, on all special revenue funds. Alternately, for those entities 
reporting on the not-for-profit accounting model, observe that the minutes referenced or 
included financial activity relating to public funds if those public funds comprised more 
than 10% of the entity’s collections during the fiscal period. 

iii. For governmental entities, obtain the prior year audit report and observe the unassigned 
fund balance in the general fund.  If the general fund had a negative ending unassigned 
fund balance in the prior year audit report, observe that the minutes for at least one meeting 
during the fiscal period referenced or included a formal plan to eliminate the negative 
unassigned fund balance in the general fund. 

iv. Observe whether the board/finance committee received written updates of the progress of 
resolving audit finding(s), according to management’s corrective action plan at each 
meeting until the findings are considered fully resolved. 
 

Were any exceptions found? - No 
 
3) Bank Reconciliations 
 
A. Obtain a listing of entity bank accounts for the fiscal period from management and 

management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Ask management to identify the 
entity’s main operating account.  Select the entity’s main operating account and randomly 
select 4 additional accounts (or all accounts if less than 5).  Randomly select one month from 
the fiscal period, obtain and inspect the corresponding bank statement and reconciliation for 
each selected account, and observe that: 

i. Bank reconciliations include evidence that they were prepared within 2 months of the 
related statement closing date (e.g., initialed and dated or electronically logged); 

ii. Bank reconciliations include evidence that a member of management/board member who 
does not handle cash, post ledgers, or issue checks has reviewed each bank reconciliation 
within 1 month of the date of the reconciliation was prepared (e.g., initialed and dated, 
electronically logged); and 

iii. Management has documentation reflecting it has researched reconciling items that have 
been outstanding for more than 12 months from the statement closing date, if applicable. 



Were any exceptions found? - No 
 
4) Collections (excluding electronic funds transfers) 
 
A. Obtain a listing of deposit sites for the fiscal period where deposits for cash/checks/money 

orders (cash) are prepared and management’s representation that the listing is complete.  
Randomly select 5 deposit sites (or all deposit sites if less than 5).   

B. For each deposit site selected, obtain a listing of collection locations and management’s 
representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select one collection location for each 
deposit site (i.e., 5 collection locations for 5 deposit sites), obtain and inspect written policies 
and procedures relating to employee job duties (if no written policies or procedures, inquire of 
employees about their job duties) at each collection location, and observe that job duties are 
properly segregated at each collection location such that: 

i. Employees responsible for cash collections do not share cash drawers/registers. 
ii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not responsible for preparing/making 

bank deposits, unless another employee/official is responsible for reconciling collection 
documentation (e.g., pre-numbered receipts) to the deposit. 

iii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not responsible for posting collection 
entries to the general ledger or subsidiary ledgers, unless another employee/official is 
responsible for reconciling ledger postings to each other and to the deposit. 

iv. The employee(s) responsible for reconciling cash collections to the general ledger and/or 
subsidiary ledgers, by revenue source and/or agency fund additions, are not responsible for 
collecting cash, unless another employee/official verifies the reconciliation. 

C. Obtain from management a copy of the bond or insurance policy for theft covering all 
employees who have access to cash. Observe the bond or insurance policy for theft was 
enforced during the fiscal period. 

D. Randomly select two deposit dates for each of the 5 bank accounts selected for Bank 
Reconciliations procedure 3A (select the next deposit date chronologically if no deposits were 
made on the dates randomly selected and randomly select a deposit if multiple deposits are 
made on the same day).  Alternately, the practitioner may use a source document other than 
bank statements when selecting the deposit dates for testing, such as a cash collection log, 
daily revenue report, receipt book, etc.  Obtain supporting documentation for each of the 10 
deposits and: 

i. Observe that receipts are sequentially pre-numbered. 
ii. Trace sequentially pre-numbered receipts, system reports, and other related collection 

documentation to the deposit slip. 
iii. Trace the deposit slip total to the actual deposit per the bank statement. 
iv. Observe the deposit was made within one business day of receipt at the collection location 

(within one week if the depository is more than 10 miles from the collection location or the 
deposit is less than $100 and the cash is stored securely in a locked safe or drawer). 

v. Trace the actual deposit per the bank statement to the general ledger. 



Were any exceptions found? – Yes 
 
Exception (4Div):  Noted sampled deposits made after one day of receipt. 
 
5) Non-Payroll Disbursements (excluding card purchases/payments, travel reimbursements, 
and petty cash purchases) 
 
A. Obtain a listing of locations that process payments for the fiscal period and management’s 

representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 locations (or all locations if less 
than 5). 

B. For each location selected under #5A above, obtain a listing of those employees involved with 
non-payroll purchasing and payment functions.  Obtain written policies and procedures 
relating to employee job duties (if the agency has no written policies and procedures, inquire 
of employees about their job duties), and observe that job duties are properly segregated such 
that: 

i. At least two employees are involved in initiating a purchase request, approving a purchase, 
and placing an order/making the purchase. 

ii. At least two employees are involved in processing and approving payments to vendors. 
iii. The employee responsible for processing payments is prohibited from adding/modifying 

vendor files, unless another employee is responsible for periodically reviewing changes to 
vendor files. 

iv. Either the employee/official responsible for signing checks mails the payment or gives the 
signed checks to an employee to mail who is not responsible for processing payments. 

v. Only employees/officials authorized to sign checks approve the electronic disbursement 
(release) of funds, whether through automated clearinghouse (ACH), electronic funds 
transfer (EFT), wire transfer, or some other electronic means. 

[Note: Findings related to controls that constrain the legal authority of certain public officials 
(e.g., mayor of a Lawrason Act municipality) should not be reported.] 

C. For each location selected under #5A above, obtain the entity’s non-payroll disbursement 
transaction population (excluding cards and travel reimbursements) and obtain management’s 
representation that the population is complete.  Randomly select 5 disbursements for each 
location, obtain supporting documentation for each transaction, and: 

i. Observe whether the disbursement, whether by paper or electronic means, matched the 
related original itemized invoice and supporting documentation indicates deliverables 
included on the invoice were received by the entity. 

ii. Observe whether the disbursement documentation included evidence (e.g., initial/date, 
electronic logging) of segregation of duties tested under procedure #5B, as applicable. 
 

D. Using the entity’s main operating account and the month selected in Bank Reconciliations 
procedure #3A, randomly select 5 non-payroll-related electronic disbursements (or all 
electronic disbursements if less than 5) and observe that each electronic disbursement was (a) 
approved by only those persons authorized to disburse funds (e.g., sign checks) per the entity’s 



policy, and (b) approved by the required number of authorized signers per the entity’s policy. 
Note: If no electronic payments were made from the main operating account during the month 
selected the practitioner should select an alternative month and/or account for testing that 
does include electronic disbursements. 

 
Were any exceptions found? – N/A 

The Non-Payroll Disbursements items were subject to testing under the Allowable Costs and 
Procurement in the OMB Compliance Supplement (Uniform Guidance). 

6) Credit Cards/Debit Cards/Fuel Cards/P-Cards 
 
A. Obtain from management a listing of all active credit cards, bank debit cards, fuel cards, and 

P-cards (cards) for the fiscal period, including the card numbers and the names of the persons 
who maintained possession of the cards.  Obtain management’s representation that the listing 
is complete. 

B. Using the listing prepared by management, randomly select 5 cards (or all cards if less than 5) 
that were used during the fiscal period.  Randomly select one monthly statement or combined 
statement for each card (for a debit card, randomly select one monthly bank statement), obtain 
supporting documentation, and: 

i. Observe whether there is evidence that the monthly statement or combined statement and 
supporting documentation (e.g., original receipts for credit/debit card purchases, exception 
reports for excessive fuel card usage) were reviewed and approved, in writing (or 
electronically approved), by someone other than the authorized card holder. [Note: 
Requiring such approval may constrain the legal authority of certain public officials (e.g., 
mayor of a Lawrason Act municipality); these instances should not be reported.] 

ii. Observe that finance charges and late fees were not assessed on the selected statements. 
 

C. Using the monthly statements or combined statements selected under #6B above, excluding 
fuel cards, randomly select 10 transactions (or all transactions if less than 10) from each 
statement, and obtain supporting documentation for the transactions (e.g., each card should 
have 10 transactions subject to testing).  For each transaction, observe it is supported by (1) an 
original itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased, (2) written 
documentation of the business/public purpose, and (3) documentation of the individuals 
participating in meals (for meal charges only).  For missing receipts, the practitioner should 
describe the nature of the transaction and note whether management had a compensating 
control to address missing receipts, such as a “missing receipt statement” that is subject to 
increased scrutiny. 
 

Were any exceptions found? – Yes 
 
Exception (6Bii):  Noted finance charges were assessed on one selected statement. 
 
 
 



7) Travel and Travel-Related Expense Reimbursements (excluding card transactions) 
 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all travel and travel-related expense reimbursements 
during the fiscal period and management’s representation that the listing or general ledger is 
complete.  Randomly select 5 reimbursements, obtain the related expense reimbursement 
forms/prepaid expense documentation of each selected reimbursement, as well as the 
supporting documentation.  For each of the 5 reimbursements selected: 

i. If reimbursed using a per diem, observe the approved reimbursement rate is no more than 
those rates established either by the State of Louisiana or the U.S. General Services 
Administration (www.gsa.gov).  

ii. If reimbursed using actual costs, observe the reimbursement is supported by an original 
itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased. 

iii. Observe each reimbursement is supported by documentation of the business/public purpose 
(for meal charges, observe that the documentation includes the names of those individuals 
participating) and other documentation required by Written Policies and Procedures 
procedure #1A(vii); and 

iv. Observe each reimbursement was reviewed and approved, in writing, by someone other 
than the person receiving reimbursement. 

 
Were any exceptions found? - No 
 
8) Contracts 
 
A. Obtain from management a listing of all agreements/contracts for professional services, 

materials and supplies, leases, and construction activities that were initiated or renewed during 
the fiscal period.  Alternately, the practitioner may use an equivalent selection source, such as 
an active vendor list.  Obtain management’s representation that the listing is complete.  
Randomly select 5 contracts (or all contracts if less than 5) from the listing, excluding the 
practitioner’s contract, and: 

i. Observe whether the contract was bid in accordance with the Louisiana Public Bid Law 
(e.g., solicited quotes or bids, advertised), if required by law. 

ii. Observe whether the contract was approved by the governing body/board, if required by 
policy or law (e.g., Lawrason Act, Home Rule Charter). 

iii. If the contract was amended (e.g., change order), observe the original contract terms 
provided for such an amendment and that amendments were made in compliance with the 
contract terms (e.g., if approval is required for any amendment, was approval documented). 

iv. Randomly select one payment from the fiscal period for each of the 5 contracts, obtain the 
supporting invoice, agree the invoice to the contract terms, and observe the invoice and 
related payment agreed to the terms and conditions of the contract. 
 

Were any exceptions found? – N/A 
 

http://www.gsa.gov/


The Contracts items were subject to testing under the Allowable Costs and Procurement in the 
OMB Compliance Supplement (Uniform Guidance). 
 
9) Payroll and Personnel 
 
A. Obtain a listing of employees and officials employed during the fiscal period and 

management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 employees or 
officials, obtain related paid salaries and personnel files, and agree paid salaries to authorized 
salaries/pay rates in the personnel files. 

B. Randomly select one pay period during the fiscal period.  For the 5 employees or officials 
selected under #9A above, obtain attendance records and leave documentation for the pay 
period, and: 

i. Observe all selected employees or officials documented their daily attendance and leave 
(e.g., vacation, sick, compensatory); 

ii. Observe whether supervisors approved the attendance and leave of the selected employees 
or officials. 

iii. Observe any leave accrued or taken during the pay period is reflected in the entity’s 
cumulative leave records; and 

iv. Observe the rate paid to the employees or officials agree to the authorized salary/pay rate 
found within the personnel file.  

C. Obtain a listing of those employees or officials that received termination payments during the 
fiscal period and management’s representation that the list is complete. Randomly select two 
employees or officials, obtain related documentation of the hours and pay rates used in 
management’s termination payment calculations and the entity’s policy on termination 
payments. Agree the hours to the employee’s or officials’ cumulative leave records, agree the 
pay rates to the employee’s or officials’ authorized pay rates in the employee’s or officials’ 
personnel files, and agree the termination payment to entity policy. 

D. Obtain management’s representation that employer and employee portions of third-party 
payroll related amounts (e.g., payroll taxes, retirement contributions, health insurance 
premiums, garnishments, workers’ compensation premiums, etc.) have been paid, and any 
associated forms have been filed, by required deadlines. 

 
Were any exceptions found? – N/A 
 
The Payroll and Personnel items were subject to testing under the Allowable Costs and 
Procurement in the OMB Compliance Supplement (Uniform Guidance). 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10) Ethics 
 
A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure #9A, 

obtain ethics documentation from management, and: 
i. Observe whether the documentation demonstrates each employee/official completed one 

hour of ethics training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:1170; and 
ii. Observe whether the entity maintains documentation which demonstrates each employee 

and official were notified of any changes to the entity’s ethics policy during the fiscal 
period, as applicable. 
 

B. Inquire and/or observe whether the agency has appointed an ethics designee as required by 
R.S. 42:1170. 

 
Were any exceptions found? – No 
 
11) Debt Service 
 
A. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes and other debt instruments issued during the fiscal period and 

management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Select all debt instruments on the 
listing, obtain supporting documentation, and observe State Bond Commission approval was 
obtained for each debt instrument issued as required by Article VII, Section 8 of the Louisiana 
Constitution. 

B. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes outstanding at the end of the fiscal period and management’s 
representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select one bond/note, inspect debt 
covenants, obtain supporting documentation for the reserve balance and payments, and agree 
actual reserve balances and payments to those required by debt covenants (including 
contingency funds, short-lived asset funds, or other funds required by the debt covenants). 

 
Were any exceptions found? – N/A 
 
These procedures are not appliable to the entity.  The entity did not have any debt outstanding 
during 2023. 
 
12) Fraud Notice 
 
A. Obtain a listing of misappropriations of public funds and assets during the fiscal period and 

management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Select all misappropriations on the 
listing, obtain supporting documentation, and observe that the entity reported the 
misappropriation(s) to the legislative auditor and the district attorney of the parish in which the 
entity is domiciled as required by R.S. 24:523. 

B. Observe the entity has posted, on its premises and website, the notice required by R.S. 24:523.1 
concerning the reporting of misappropriation, fraud, waste, or abuse of public funds. 

 
Were any exceptions found? - No 



13) Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity 
 
A. Perform the following procedures, verbally discuss the results with management, and 

report “We performed the procedure and discussed the results with management.” 
i. Obtain and inspect the entity’s most recent documentation that it has backed up its critical 

data (if there is no written documentation, then inquire of personnel responsible for backing 
up critical data) and observe evidence that such backup (a) occurred within the past week, 
(b) was not stored on the government’s local server or network, and (c) was encrypted. 

ii. Obtain and inspect the entity’s most recent documentation that it has tested/verified that its 
backups can be restored (if there is no written documentation, inquire of personnel 
responsible for testing/verifying backup restoration) and observe evidence that the 
test/verification was successfully performed within the past 3 months. 

iii. Obtain a listing of the entity’s computers currently in use and their related locations, and 
management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 computers 
and observe while management demonstrates that the selected computers have current and 
active antivirus software and that the operating system and accounting system software in 
use are currently supported by the vendor.  

B. Randomly select 5 terminated employees (or all terminated employees if less than 5) using the 
list of terminated employees obtained in Payroll and Personnel procedure #9C. Observe 
evidence that the selected terminated employees have been removed or disabled from the 
network. 
 

C. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure #9A, 
obtain cybersecurity training documentation from management, and observe that the 
documentation demonstrates that the following employees/officials with access to the agency’s 
information technology assets have completed cybersecurity training as required by R.S. 
42:1267. The requirements are as follows: 
 

• Hired before June 9, 2020 - completed the training; and 
• Hired on or after June 9, 2020 - completed the training within 30 days of initial service 

or employment. 
 

We performed the Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity procedures and 
discussed the results with management. 

14) Prevention Sexual Harassment 
 
A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure #9A, 

obtain sexual harassment training documentation from management, and observe the 
documentation demonstrates each employee/official completed at least one hour of sexual 
harassment training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:343. 



B. Observe that the entity has posted its sexual harassment policy and complaint procedure on its 
website (or in a conspicuous location on the entity’s premises if the entity does not have a 
website). 

C. Obtain the entity’s annual sexual harassment report for the current fiscal period, observe that 
the report was dated on or before February 1, and observe that the report includes the applicable 
requirements of R.S. 42:344: 

i. Number and percentage of public servants in the agency who have completed the training 
requirements; 

ii. Number of sexual harassment complaints received by the agency; 

iii. Number of complaints which resulted in a finding that sexual harassment occurred; 

iv. Number of complaints in which the finding of sexual harassment resulted in discipline or 
corrective action; and 

v. Amount of time it took to resolve each complaint. 
 

Were any exceptions found? – No 
 
Management’s Responses 
 
1Axii - The District will update its Sexual Harassment Policy to include the annual reporting 
language.  The District prepared the annual report for 2023. 
 
4Div – The District deposits collections on every Monday, Wednesday and Friday.  The 
District believes this deposit frequency is adequate based on the Airport’s operations. 
 
6Bii – The District will review the finance charges and will develop procedures to ensure no 
credit card finance charges are assessed on the future activity. 
 
We were engaged by Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish to perform this 
agreed-upon procedures engagement and conducted our engagement in accordance with attestation 
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and applicable 
standards of Government Auditing Standards.  We were not engaged to and did not conduct an 
examination or review engagement, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion 
or conclusion, respectively, on those C/C areas identified in the SAUPs.  Accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion or conclusion.  Had we performed additional procedures, other matters 
might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you. 
 
We are required to be independent of Airport Authority for Airport District #1 of Calcasieu Parish 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
related to our agreed-upon procedures engagement.   
 
 



 

 

This report is intended solely to describe the scope of testing performed on those C/C areas 
identified in the SAUPs, and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on control or 
compliance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  Under Louisiana 
Revised Statute 24:513, this report is distributed by the LLA as a public document. 
 

Steven M DeRouen & Associates LLC 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
May 20, 2024 
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